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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA
INDIANAPOLIS DIVISION

DUSTIN A. KING,
Plaintiff,

VS. No. 1:14ev-01092IJMSMJID
INDIANA SUPREME COURT,

MARION COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT,
MARION COUNTY OFFICE OF THE
COURT ADMINISTRATOR,

MARION COUNTY COUNCIL,

INDIANA SUPREME COURT, DIVISION
OF STATE COURT ADMINISTRATION,

N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendants.

ORDER ON PLAINTIFF'S MOTION TO AMEND

This matter comes before t®urt on Plaintiff's Motion for Leave to Amend. [Dkt. 53.]

For the following reasons, the CoGRANTS Plaintiffs’ motion.
I. Background

On June 26, 2014ustin King (“Plaintiff” or “King”) sued the Marion County Office of
the Court Administrator, the Marion County Council (“County Defendants”), the Indiana
Supreme Court, the Marion County Circuit Court, and the Indiana Supreme Court Division of
State Court AdministratiofDSCA”) (collectively “State Defendants”King is deaf and
communicates primarily through American Sign Language (“ASL"). [kt 3.] He alleged
that he was a party in a state court action related to custody of his daughtbatahd court
ordered him to participate mandatory mediationld. at 4.] King claims that he moved the

court for appointment of an ASL interpreter for the mediation and asked for appoiaintiest
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court’s expense because he “is an individual of modest me#h$ The ourt, howeverdenial
the motion. [d.] King moved for reconsideration, but the court denied this motion as t@dll. |
He then sought an interlocutory appeal, thet state coudeniedthat motion allegedly forcing
King to locate his own ASL interpreter for the mediatairhis own expensed]]

As a result, Plaintiff alleges violation of Title 1l of the Americans with Disabilities Act
(“ADA") , [id. at 5], which provides that “no qualified individual with a disability shall, by
reason of such disability, be excluded from participation in or be denied the bendfés of t
services, programs, or activities of a public entity, or be subjected to dis&tion by any such
entity.” 42 U.S.C. § 12132. Plaintiff also alleges a violation of the RehabilitationBldt, I at
6], which provides that nootherwise qualified individual with a disability in the United States,
as defined in section 705(20) of this title, shall, solely by reason of her or hisitlisabil
excluded from the participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to dztomi
under any program or activity receiving Federal financial assista2@&).S.C. § 794.

On August 28, 2014, the County Defendants moved to dismiss Plaintiffs’ claims. [Dkt.
30.] They argued that the complaint failed to state a claim under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(l3(®ebec
Plaintiff alleged only that the trial court’s order discriminated against him; heodallege that
the County Defendants were responsible for any aspect of this order, and tlou® farksent a
plausible claim that the County Defendants violated his rights. [Dkt. 31 at 4.]

Plaintiff respmded by amending his complaint to allege that the County Defendants
participated in the provision of ASL interpreters in court-ordered mediations. [Dkit.239Tde
County Defendants moved to dismiss this Amended Complaint. [Dkt. 43.] They asiatted

Plaintiff’'s own allegations showed that interpreters are not geng@raiyded to the public, such



that Plaintiff had not alleged that “but for” his hearing disihilhe would have received access
to an interpreter. [Dkt. 44 at 5.]

State Defendants also moved to dismiss the Amended Complaint. [Dkt. 45.] They
presentechumerous reasons for dismissal, including lack of Article Ill standing; laakbpéct
matter jurisdiction; sovereign immunity; judicial immunity; and failure to state a claim upon
which relief can be granted. [Dkt. 46 at 2.]

On October 14, 2014, Plaintiff respondedtate Defendants’ motion by filing the
current Motion for Leave to Amend. [Dkt. 53k included a proposed Second Amended
Complaint(“SAC”), which includes a variety of new factual allegatiorsgq id], and asked the
Court for leave to file this Second Amended Complaint.

Il.  Discussion

Plaintiff has already amended his complaint onceraatger of right, [Dkt. 53 at 1], and
Plaintiff has not obtained Defendants’ consent to an amendment. [Dkt. 54 at 2.] Thusf Plaintif
may amend his complaint only with the Court’s leave. Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)(2).

“The court should freely give leave whemiige so requiresid. Thisrule, however,
does notmandate thdeave be granted in every ca%gistrict courts have broad discretion to
deny leave to amend where there is undue delay, bad faith, dilatory motive, rephatetbfa
cure deficiencies,ndue prejudice to the defendants, or where the amendment would be futile.”
Arreola v. Godinez546 F.3d 788, 796 (7th Cir. 2008).

Defendants resist the motion to amend only on the grounds that the proposed amendment

is futile.! [SeeDkt. 54 at 3.]As the parties resisting the amendme®tate Defendants have the

1 The Court also observes that there appears to be no evidence of undue delayy, lsfidhtaity motive, prejudice
to defendants, or repeated failure to cure deficiencies. The deadline to ameeddimegp is not until December 1,
2014, and liability discovery does not close until April 29, 2015. [Dk. 34 at 4, BjdfuPlaintiff argues that his
proposed amendment is a response to State Defendants’ Motion to DjBkis45], to which Plaintiff did not
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burden to show themended complaintutility . See, e.gForeman v. KingNo. 12 CV 50419,
2013 WL 4482612, at *1 (N.D. lll. Aug. 20, 2013 pleading is futile if it restates the same
factsusing different language, reasserts claims previously determinedofatlte a valid theory
of liability, or would not survive a motion to dismié&arcia v. City of Chicago, Il).24 F.3d
966, 970 (7th Cir. 1994%ee also McCoy v. Iberdrola Renewables,,Ii60 F.3d 674, 685 (7th
Cir. 2014)reh’g denied No. 13-3350, 2014 WL 4979692 (7th Cir. Oct. 7, 201B)dtrict courts
may refuse to entertain a proposed amendment on futility grounds when the newgpleaddh
not survive a motion to dismiss.”). To survive a motion to dismiss, the new complaht
“contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as truestiate a claim to relfghat is plausible on
its face.”” McCoy, 760 F.3d at 685 (quotimgshcroft v. Igbgl556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009Before
denying such an amendment, however, it should be “clear” that the proposed amendeatcomplai
“Is deficient” andwould not survive such a motiodohnson v. Dosse$15 F.3d 778, 780 (7th
Cir. 2008).

Plaintiff contends that his propos8AC contains allegations that cure any deficiencies
raised by State Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss. [Dkt. 53 at 2.] State Deferad&niswvliedge
that Plaintiff “has included some new factual allegations in the proposed amendgdiat,”
but argue that nond these allegations “are sufficient to survive the State Defendants’ Motion

Dismiss” because they do not address the “fatal jurisdictional and thidalyility flaws

have an opportunity to respond when filing his previous amended comjizkt. 53 at 2.] Thus, Plaintiff has ho
neglected previous opportunities to cure deficiencies.

2 Many Seventh Circuit decisions state that an amendment is futile if it wotddindve a motion for summary
judgment.See, e.g., King ex rel. King v. E. St. Louis Sch. Dist. 489 F.3d 812, 819 (7th Cir.2007). In these
decisions, however, the case had already progressed to the summary justggeenthus, it “would have been
incongruous for the court to have defined futility in terms other than tteeitapf the amendment to survive
summary judgment.Duthie v. Matria Healthcare, Inc254 F.R.D. 90, 95 (N.D. Ill. 2008). In this case, in contrast,
the parties have not yet moved for summary judgment, and whetherehdment would survive a motion to
dismiss is the properatdard See, e.gBank of Am. NA v. Home Lumber Co. LIN®. 2:10 CV 170, 2011 WL
5040723, at *3 (N.D. Ind. Oct. 24, 2011).

4



elucidated in the State Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss.” [Dkt. 54 at 3.] The Cdutthus
consider the arguments raised in State Defendants’ brief in support of their matiemiss’
and assesshether the propose®lAC addresses these alleged deficiencies.

A. Article 1l Standing

State Defendants argue that Plaintikshiended Complairfails to meet the
requirements of Article 11l standing, [Dkt. 46 at 5], and that Plaintiff's psgal amendments do
not cure this defect. [Dkt. 54 at 3.] Article Ill standing requires injury in factsation, and
redressabilityLujan v. Defendrs of Wildlife 504 U.S. 555, 560-61 (1998tate Defendants
argue that Plaintiff's Amended Complaint does not establish causation becaakest‘no
specific allegations against State Defendants Indiana Supreme Court asidrDoviState Court
Administratiorf [Dkt. 47 at 6;see also idat 9; that it does not establish injury in fact because
the trial court “waived the mandatory mediation requirerfi@oich that Plaintiff voluntarily
participated in the mediatiord[ at 9]; and that it does not establish redressability because
possible remedies, such as ordering another mediation with an ASL interpredet,psesild be
“unwarranted under current law ftl[]

Plaintiff's proposed amendments add factual matter thatawercome these
contentions. First, Plaintiff’'s propos&AC explains that the court-ordered mediation was part of
the state Alternate Dispute Resolution (“ADR”) Program for Domestic Relations Casdg. [D
53-2 at 4.] This program requires any participating counties—such as Marion Cotmty—

prepare an ADRlan that is approved by the Execetiirector of the Supreme Coubtvision

3 Courts routinely examine a party’s motion to dismiss and accompphyief to determine whether they have met
their burden of showing that proposed amendments are fodits.e.g., Trochuck v. Patterson Companies, 85d.

F. Supp. 2d 1147, 1149 (S.D. lll. 2012) (relying on motion to dismiss to determamaaents were futileven
where @fendant did not oppose motion to amemidrkey v. BowlingNo. 3:07CV-267, 2008 WL 2169007, at *7
(N.D. Ind. May 22, 2008) (noting that defendant “addressed thie §ssue in greater detail in its reply brief in
support of its motion to dismiss” when determining amendment wites)fin re Schmid494 B.R. 737, 749 (Bankr.
W.D. Wis.) (relying on disposition of motion to dismiss to determine that dment was futi).
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of State Court Administrationld.] Further, the amendment alleges that the Indiana Supreme
Court and DSCA approve the financial qualification guidelines for individuals of mouzss

to participate in the prograrfid.], and that the Indiana Supreme Court and DSCA oversee the
program’s funding structureld. at 9.] In short, Plaintiff contends that the modest means
mediation program “is funded, administered, regulated, and provisioned by Defendants,
including State Defendants.” [Dkt. 55 at 3.]

The proposed SAC thus adds specific allegations against the Indiana Supremadourt a
DSCA related to Plaintif participaibn in the mediation program. Moreover, Defendants
themselvegsontend that the original decision to deny appointment of an ASL interpreter was
based on the lack of funds for such an interpreter. [Dkt. 46 Eenge the actions of the
Indiana Supgme Cou and DSCA in approving funding afidancialeligibility guidelines may
have caused the denialtbke appointment of amterpreterthat forms the basis for Plaintiff's
complaint Plaintiff's proposecamendments therefore address Defendant’s causatjomant.

Second, Plaintiff's propose®iAC acknowledgeshat the trial court waived the obligation
to proceed with mediation. [Dkt. 53-2 at 7.] The complaint, however, also adds allegations tha
King “wanted and wished to participate in mediationd’][ and “incurred the expense of
seeking and obtaining” his own interpreter for the mediatidnak 8.] Count | of the proposed
SACthenadds an allegation that King “felt emotional distress for being treated differas a
result of his disability.# [Id. at 11.]Plaintiff's amendments therefore demonstrate that he did
suffer injury in fact in the form of) the expense required to participateéhia statewide

mediation progranm which he wanted to participaé&d2) emotional distress resulting from the

4 The addition of these factual allegations also belie Defendants’ comtéimdibPlaintiff's proposed SAC “merely
restates the same essential facts using different language.” [Dkt. 54 att8.iddhe contrary, and as explained
throughout this orer, Plaintiff's additional factual allegations provide new angortantinsight regarding
Defendant’s “jurisdictional and theory of liability flaws It[]
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alleged mistreatmenThus, regardless of the voluntary nature of the mediation, Plaintiff's
proposedSAC meetsthe injuryrequirement of standingee, e.gln re Aqua Dots Products
Liab. Litig., 654 F.3d 748, 751 (7th Cir. 201(t A financial injury ceates standinQ; Todd v.
Collecto, Inc, No. 12 C 4984, 2012 WL 5510226, at *1 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 13, 2C4f2y, 731 F.3d
734 (7th Cir. 2013jcalling “emotional distress” a “sufficient injury” to confer constitutional
standing).

Finally, by adding the allegation that he incurred the expense of seeking his own
interpreter, Plaintiff has addressed the Defendants’ redressalglitnant. The Court need not
“order the state parties to-neediate the dispute with an ASL interpreter at court expense,” as
Defendants suggest. [Dkt. 46 at 9.] Instead, the Court can simply award damages for the
“expense’and “emotional distres$laintiff allegedlyincurred.See, e.g Grant-Hall v. Cavalry
Portfolio Servs.LLC, 856 F. Supp. 2d 929, 936 (N.D. Ill. 2012)aim for “compensatory
damages” satisfies redressability).

Plaintiff's proposed SAC therefore addresthe Article Il standing deficiencies that
Defendants have identified, and the Court thus does not find it “clEdmnison 515 F.3d at 780,
that Plaintiff sproposed SAC would not withstand a motion to dismiss on these grounds.

B. Rooker-Feldman Doctrine

Defendants contend that the Rooker-Feldman doctrine “bars Plaintiff's Amended
Complaint.” [Dkt. 46 at 10.] This doctrine prevefgsleral district courts from entertaining
actions brought by “statesurt losers” challenging “stat@urt judgments rendered before the
district court proceedings commenceldance v. Denniss46 U.S. 459, 460 (2006). It applies to
both “direct review of state court decision” andimig “inextricably intertwined” with a state

court’s judgmentKansas City S. Ry. Co. v. Koell&53 F.3d 496, 503 (7th Cir. 2011).



Defendants argue that the trial court’s decision to deny appointmentragégretenn
this case is the sort of state dodecision that this Court cannot review. [Dkt. 46 at 11.]
Defendants also contend that the Rodkeldman doctrine applies not just to state court
“jJudgments,”but also to state court “orders,” such as the state trial court’s orddaiotifs
motion for appointment of an interpreteld[(citing Homola v. McNamaras9 F.3d 647, 649-50
(7th Cir. 1995).]

Defendants may be correct, but Plaintiff’'s proposed SAC, as noted above, adds
allegations related to State Defendants’saledetermining theyuideines for Indiana counties’
ADR programs and thinancial qualifications for participants in the modest means mediation
program. [Dkt. 53 at 45.] These administrative and financial decisions are unrelated to the
trial court’s order denying the appointment of ihierpretey and thus may be reviewed without
violating the Rooker-Feldman doctrirfeeelance 546 U.S. at 464 (noting that the “narrow”
Rooker-Feldman doctrine does not apply to state executive or administratres getence, it
is not cleatthat the Rooker-Feldman doctrine renders Plaintiff's proposed SAC deficient.

C. Collateral Estoppel

Defendants next argue that defensive collateral estoppel bars Plagatifffdaint.[Dkt.

46 at 12.] They contend this doctrine applies where “a defendant seeks to preventfafpdeinti
asserting a claim which the plaintiff previously litigated and lo#d.”(citing MicroVote Gen.
Corp. v. Indiana Election Comny824 N.E.2d 184, 198 (Ind. Ct. App. 2010).] They note that
the trial court denied Plaintiff motion for an interlocutory appeal as moot because Plaintiff
“was relieved of the responsibility to participate in mandatory mediatioc|i ghat Plaintiff

purportedly had a “full and fair opportunity to litigate this matter in the state.tplar. at 13.]



Plaintiffs’ proposed SAC contravenes this argumé&he SAC adds allegations that
Plaintiff wished to participate in the statéde mediationprogram but incurred expenses in
finding his owninterpretetbecause of Defendasitconduct. [Dkt. 532 at7-8.] It also adds an
allegation that King “felt emotional distress for being treated differeaslyg result of his
disability.” [Dkt. 53-2 at 11.] Thus, regardless of whether Plaintiff “wagveli of the
responsibility to participate in mandatory megghn,” he still may have suffered damages that
can be redressed, and the issue is not moot.

Further, the fact that Kingnoved for appointment of an interpreter at the trial court level
hardly establishes that he had the “full and fair opportuniliyigate this mattef [Dkt. 46 at
13.] Nothing suggests that State Defendants’ previously described funding and tadtiviais
decisions regarding the mediation program were before the state acbrthat it is not at all
clear that Plaintiff's claimselated to these decisions are barred by collateral estopped.

D. Domestic Relations

State Defendants contend the domestic relations exception to fiedisdhttion bars
Plaintiff's claims. [Dkt. 46 at 14.] This “limitation on federal jurisdiction” preteedistrict courts
from hearing “domestic disputes involving divorce, custody or alimony isséiésti’ v. Allen
48 F.3d 259, 261 (7th Cir. 1995).

This doctrine, however, is narrenthan Defedants contend. As the Supreme Court has
noted, thedecisions establishing tliectrine ‘did not intend to strip the federal courts of

authority to hear casesising from the domestielations of persons unless they seek the

5> Defendants later argue that any claim for damages is moot because in the ‘Baryedisposig of Plaintiff's
state court paternity suit, he agreed to pay his own litigation costs. [D&t.34631.] Plaintiffs proposed SAC,
however, adds that he suffered “emotional distress” due to Defenddegechtonduct. [Dkt. 52 at 11.] Thus,
even assuming the Agreed Entry covers the costs Plaintiff incurrechitinig his ownnterpreter he alleges
emotional damages that are not within the scope of the Agreed BEmthythat his claim is not moot.
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granting or modificatiorof a divorce or alimony decreeXnkenbrandt v. Richargd$04 U.S.

689, 701-02 (1992). Thus, Ankenbrandtthe Supreme Court determined that the lower court
erred by refusing to exercise jurisdiction over a lawsuit that did not seekssuem¢e or
modification ‘of a divorce, alimony, or child custody decrelel. at 704.

In this case, Plaintiff's proposed SAC has no relation whatsoever to the resh#s of
child custody proceedings that gave rise to this action. Instead, the SAC dikgekiniff
suffered “injuries and damages” and “emotional distress” from the lack ofraaqointed
interpreter at the mediation. [Dkt. 53-2 at 11.] It then asks for a declaratomgudghat
Defendants violated the ADA and for an award of “actual and compensatory ddriakie$3-

2 at 12.] The SAC asks for no modification of the child custody decree resulting from the
proceedingsand thus does not fall within the scope of the domestic relations exception. As such,
theproposed SAC woulllkely withstand a motion to dismiss on this basis.

E. Sovereign Immunity

Defendants contend that the Eleventh Amendment bars Plaintiff’s suit. [Dkt. 46 at 16.]
They note that the Supreme Court has consistently held that the Eleventh Amendoenst re
non-<consenting states imme to suits brought in federal courts, whether by citizens of that state
or of another stateld.] Defendants, however, also recognizat Congress may abrogalte
states immunity througtexercise of its powers under Section FoWeéhe Fourteenth
Amendment. Id. at 17.]

In Tennessee v. Lanthe Supreme Court determined that Congress abrogated state
sovereign immunity thragh Title 1l of the ADAinsofar as the ADAs used to &nforce the
constitutional right of access to the courts.” 541 U.S. 509, 531 (2DéfHndants argue that

access to mediation is not equivalent to access to the courts, and that denystpaveesation
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would not violate Plaintiff's constitutional rights, such that Title II's abrogatibsovereign
immunity does not extend to Plaintiff’'s claims. [Dkt. 46 at 17-19.]

Defendants, however, do not address Count Il of Plaintiff’'s complaint, in which he
alleges a violation of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act. [Dkt. 53-2 at 11.] In 1986, Congress
amended th&ehabilitation Act to provide that &tate shall not be immune under the Eleventh
Amendment of the Constitution of the United States from suit in Federal court foaaoriaf
section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act.” 42 U.S.C. § 2000d-7. The Supreme Gas explained
that this provision éxpressly waives state sovigireimmunity for violations ofsection 504 of
the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 . by recipients of Federal financial assistait Sossamon v.
Texas 131 S. Ct. 1651, 1662 (201(Emphasis original)). Plaintiff's proposed SAC alleges that
all Defendants received federal financial assistance, [DK2. &3], such that all Defendants
waived their sovereign immunit§aeeCullen v. Illinois Dep’t of Human Sery$No. 12-1032,
2012 WL 1965384, at *3 (C.D. lll. May 31, 2012) (recognizing effect of 1986 amendments in
eliminating state immunityRittenhouse v. Bd. of Trustees of S. lllinois Y28 F. Supp. 2d
887, 895 (S.D. Ill. 2008[[Plaintiff’'s] action under the Rehabilitation Act is not barred by the
Eleventh Amendment and may procégdlhus, even if the Court accepts Defendants’ argument
that “Title Il of the ADA should not be held . . . as a valid abrogation of Indiana’s sgwere
immunity,” [Dkt. 46 at 19], Plaintiff’'s remaining claim would survive this aspg®eferdants’
motion to dismiss. Indiana’s sovereign immuritigreforedoes not render Plaintiff's proposed
SAC futile.

F. Judicial Immunity

Defendants argue that Plaintiff's complaint is barred by the doctriabsaiutejudicial

immunity. [Dkt. 56 at 20.] They correctly note that the Supreme Court has used acthahcti
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approach” to determine whether an individual is entitled to absolute immudit{cifing
Forrester v. White484 U.S. 219, 224 (1978).] The Court agrees with Defendaets d.at 21],
that the trial judge’s rulings on Plaintiff's motion for appointment of an intenpvetes,
functionally, judicial acts that are likely entitled to judicial immunity.

Plaintiff's proposed SAC, however, adds allegations describing the operations and
funding of the state-wide ADR prograflaintiff alleges that the Indiana Supreme Court and the
DSCA “provide standards and guidelines for each ADR plan,” including the plan inrMari
County, [Dkt. 53-2 at 4], and that the ADR funding programs are “administered and/or approved
by the Indiana Supreme Court and the Indiana State Court Administrattbrat 9.] Thus,

Plaintiff has alleged that the Indiana Supreme Court and DSCA may be involveditreachat
caused the denial of hisquest for amterpreter but which are ngudicial activities entitling
Defendants to judicial immunitysee, e.gForrester, 484 U.S. at 228 Administrative
decisions, even though they may be essential to the very functioning of the courtgthave
been regarded as judicial at}sAs such, the Court does not find it “clealghnson515 F.3d at
780, that Plaintiff's proposed SAC would not withstand a motion to dismiss on the basis of

judicial immunity®

6 A more basic problem with the assertion of judicial immunity is thiatis a personal defense reserved for
individuals.See Hernandez v. Sheahdb5 F.3d 772, 776 (7th Cir. 2006) (“Official immunities (judicial,
legislative, absolute, qualified, quaand so on) are personal defenses designed to protect the finances of public
officials whose salaries do not compensate them for the risks oityiabiler vague and hatd-foresee
constitutional doctrines. That justification does not apply to suits agaiitstof state or local government, which
can tap the public fisc.”). Plaintifhoweverhas not named any individual defendants in this suit; indeed, he has
namedonly “units of state or local government3¢eDkts. 1 & 532.] StateDefendants acknowledge this, [Dkt. 46
at 20], but continue to asrt judicial immunity, apparently in case “the trial judge’s rulinghéstate court case are
implicated in any individual capacity.id.] Regardless of the reason, their assertion of judicial immudoigg not
present a valid reason for dismissing the claims against the State Dé$¢hdarselves
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G. Failure to State aClaim

Defendants next contend that Plaintiff has failed to state a claim upon wheflceglibe
granted. [Dkt. 46 at 23.] Thgyesent two main arguments: firgtatthe trial court did not
discriminate against Plaintiff because it waived the requirement to participate indizdiome
program [Dkt. 46 at 24]; and second, that Plaintiff did not pro@didge intentional
discrimination[ld. at 29.]

The first argument rests on the premise that the trial court did not exclude Phaintif
any “servicesprograms, or activities” because it excused Plaintiff’'s participation in the
mediation programld. at 24.] Plaintiff's proposed SAC, however, alleges thavaetedto
participate in the program, and could only do so by incurring costs to secure his opieiater
[Dkt. 53-2 at 78.] Further, the proposed SAC adds facts establishing that the mediation was part
of a statewide program “funded, regulated, and provisioned by Defendants.” [Dkt. 55 at 3.]
Defendants themselves define “programs or activities” as “all of the operatians olocal
government,” [Dkt. 46 at 24 (citingrame v. City of Arlington657 F.3d 215, 225 (5th Cir.
2011)], suggesting the Marion County mediation program was indeed a program oy fxotivit
which Plaintiff may havéeen exclded. As such, the Court fintlsat theproposedADA claim
couldpotentiallysurvive a motion to disras for failure to state a claim on this basis.

Defendand then argue that “there is simply no allegation in the Amended Complaint that
State Defendants were aware their conduct violated the ADA or section 504,” authele is
no showing here of discriminatory animus or intentional discrimination.” [Dkt. 46 at 29.]
Plaintiff, however, alleges in his proposed SAC that “Defendantsintargonally
discriminated against Kinlgy refusing to provide auxiliary aids and services necessary to ensure

an equal opportunity for King to participate in modest means mediation.” [Dkt. 53-2 at 12
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(emphasis added)Furthermore, a showing of intent is na&cessary for all of Plaintiffs’ claims.
Rather discrimination under both the ADA atide Rehabilitation Act maybe established by
evidence that (1) the defendant intentionally acted on the basis of the dis&)ilityg (lefendant
refused to provide seasonable mafication, or (3) the defendant’s rule disproportionally
impacts disabled peopléWashington v. Indiana High Sch. Athletic Ass’n,,1d81 F.3d 840,
847 (7th Cir. 1999). Granted, Plaintiff must show intent to prevail oaliis for compesatory
damagesSee, e.gPhipps v. Sheriff of Cook Cnt81 F. Supp. 2d 899, 917 (N.D. Ill. 2009).
Plaintiff, howeveralso seeks declaratory relief, [DE3-2 at 12], such that the Court does not
find it “clear” that his amended complaint fails to state a claim for any potentialethely in
alleging intent.

H. Judicial Estoppel

Defendants next argue that judicial estoppel precludes Plaintiff's clainssdddtrine
prevents a party who “prevailsh one groundh a first lawsuit fromassertingand prevailing on
an inconsistent position in a second lawsdgden Martin Sys. of Indianapolis, Inc. v. Whiting
Corp.,, 179 F.3d 523, 527 (7th Cir. 1999he Seenth Circuit has described three prerequisites
for the doctrine: (1) the later position must be clearly inconsistent with the earlier position; (2)
the facts at issue should be the same in both cases; and (3) the party to be estopped must ha
convinced he first @urt to adopt its positiond.

Defendants contend that in the “Agreed Entry” disposing of his state court paserti
Plaintiff agreed to “pay [his] own attorney fees and litigation expenseratthereto,” such that
he should not be allowed to now seek damages based on the expenses occurred during the state
court proceedings. [Dkt. 46 at 30.] This contention is problematiwvimreasons. First,

Defendants do not explain how Plaintiff's agreement to pay his own fees wasuhleof his
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“convince[ing] the first court to adopt [his] positiorDgden 179 F.3d at 523Vhile parties
routinely acquiesce to the payment of their own fees and costs as part lefnaeseitare is the
litigant who affirmativelyasks the court to order him to pay his own fees and costs. Second,
Plaintiff’'s agreement to pay the attorney fees in the paternity suit is notlydle@onsistent,”

id., with his request for damages in this case. As noted above, Plaintiff seeks nos aolst$i
incurred during thetate courproceedings, but also damages for the emotional distress he
suffered [SeeDkt 53-2 at 11.] Thus, even if judicial estoppel does apply to his request for
litigation costswhile in state court, it does not apply to Plaintiff's other poten@ahdges, and
thusdoes not present a valid reason for dismissing Plaintiff’'s compglaint.

[. Summary

For the reasonsxplainedabove, the Court finds that Plaintiff's proposed Second
Amended Complaint could survive Defendant’s motion to dismiss. As such, the proposed SAC is
not futile, and the Court wilbRANT Plaintiff's motion to file the SAC.

The Court emphasizes that this order is not determinatiaaeyopotentialmotions to
dismiss.At this time the Court merely finds that it is not “clear” that the “proposed amended
complaint is deficient.Johnson515 at 780. Further consideratiaiterthe parties have fully
briefedany motions to dmiss may yet result in dismissal.

[ll.  Conclusion
Based on thabove reasoninghe CourtGRANTS Plaintiff's Motion for Leave to

Amend. [Dkt. 53.] Plaintiff is therefore granted leave to amend his Amended Comatairthe

" Defendants relatedly argue that the state court “Agreed Entry” constittwesvar” of Plaintiff's claims. [Dkt. 46
at 31.]They define “waiver” as thententional relinquishment of a known righid [(citing U.S. v Pappas409 F.3d
828, 829 (7th Cir. 2009)Defendants, however, do not explain howiRtiff’'s payment of costs for thetate court
suit relinquishedhis claim for damages related to the el distress associated with a potential ADA violation.
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CourtORDERS the Clerk to file Plaintiff's Second Amended Complaint and Demand for Jury

Trial, [Dkt. 53-2], as of the date of this order. In light of the filing of the Second Amended

Complaint, Defendants’ Motions to Dismiss, [Dkts. 43 and 45]P&NIED AS MOOT

without prejudice to their resubmission in response to the Second Amended Complaint, and

Defendants are ordered to answer or otherwise respond to Plaintiff's Senendet

Complaint as set forth in the applicable federal rules.

Date: 11/07/2014
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